**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge**

---

**Case No. 2012-212714**

---

**E. Shawn Sorrell.....Appellant,**

**vs.**

**South Carolina Department of Public Safety.....Respondent.**

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

**John A. O'Leary, S.C. Bar 4274  
O'Leary Associates, P.A.  
714 Calhoun St.  
Columbia, SC 29201  
Phone: 803-779-5556  
Counsel for Appellant**

**RECEIVED**

**FEB 05 2013**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. **IT WAS ERROR FOR THE FOR THE BOARD AND THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT TO USE THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE STANDARD AS THE BASIS FOR A DETERMINATION OF PROBABLE CAUSE, CONTRARY TO THE STANDARD SET IN BECK V. OHIO, 379 U.S. 89 (1964) AND HARLOW V. FITZGERALD, 457 U.S. 800,102 S.Ct.. 2727, 73 L.Ed.2d 396 (1982) OBJECTIVE.**
  
- II. **WAS THE DECISION MADE BY THE COMMITTEE REFERENCING A LACK OF PROBABLE CAUSE AND SPECIFICALLY CITING STATE V. PERKINS, 306 S.C. 353; 412 S.E.2D 385 (1991) IN ERROR AND CONTRARY TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 8-17-340(E)(2)(c)(d)?**
  
- III. **WAS THE ARREST BY APPELLANT BASED UPON THE LEGAL STANDARD OF PROBABLE CAUSE REQUIRED UNDER BOTH THE FOURTH AMENDMENT OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AS WELL AS THE CONSTITUTION FOR THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA?**
  
- IV. **WAS IT ERROR AND A VIOLATION OF THE S.C. CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE I, SECTION 22 (DUE PROCESS) AND THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION FOR THE ATTORNEY FOR THE COMMITTEE TO ESTABLISH A PROTOCOL AND PROCEDURE OF ELECTRONICALLY MAKING AVAILABLE ALL DOCUMENTS TO BE PRESENTED PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED HEARING TO ALLOW SPECIFIC OBJECTIONS AND A RECORD TO BE MADE? FURTHER, SCHEDULE A TWO DAY HEARING WITH THE APPELLANT HAVING THE BURDEN OF PROOF ON DAY ONE AND SECOND DAY A PRESENTATION BY THE DEFENSE SOME FORTY-THREE (43) DAYS LATER.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. E. Shawn Sorrell, Appellant, was employed with the South Carolina Department of Public Safety (SCDPS) as a Bureau of Protective Services (BPS) Officer from 06/02/2000 until his termination effective 07/12/2010. This appeal involves the termination of Appellant's employment for improper conduct, a violation of SCDPS Policy 400.08, Disciplinary Actions. A letter from Director Mark Keel dated 07/09/2010 specifies that Appellant acted improperly on 03/28/2010 at approximately 2:30am by arresting three individuals for disorderly conduct, absent probable cause.

The three defendants consisted of two males and one female with ages ranging from early 20's to 30. Uniform Traffic Tickets D360607, D360608, and D360609 were issued charging a violation of State Public Disorderly Conduct Law reflected in §16-17-530, South Carolina Code of Laws. Section 16-17-530 reads as follows:

*Any person who shall (a) be found on any highway or at any public place or public gathering in a grossly intoxicated condition or otherwise conducting himself in a disorderly or boisterous manner, (b) use obscene or profane language on any highway or at any public place or gathering or in hearing distance of any schoolhouse or church or (c) while under the influence or feigning to be under the influence of intoxicating liquor, without just cause or excuse, discharge any gun, pistol or other firearm while upon or within fifty yards of any public road or highway, except upon his own premises, shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined not more than one hundred dollars or be imprisoned for not more than thirty days. [emphasis added]*

Appellant filed grievances with the Department of Public Safety and exhausted all his administrative remedies. This matter came before the State Budget & Control

Board - Employee Grievance Committee (Committee) on 03/22/2011 with Committee attorney Warren Ganjehsani hearing objections to the evidence filed by counsel for Appellant. The formal hearing before the Employee Grievance Committee Chairman Herbert Cooper from the Department of Transportation began on 06/27/2011 with a second day of testimony on 08/08/2011.

A final decision was rendered by the Committee in a document dated 08/26/2011. The decision was based upon State v. Perkins, 306 S.C. 353; 412 S.E.2d 385 (1991). An appeal from that decision was timely filed in the Administrative Law Court. On July 12, 2012, the Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden issued the Administrative Law Court decision affirming Respondent's decision to terminate Appellant's employment. (Order filed 7-12-12) In the Administrative Court decision it found evidence to support the Committee's finding that the arrest was made without probable cause. Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal with the SC Court of Appeals on August 8, 2012. This appeal is timely filed.

### **BACKGROUND**

Kammer v. Murata of AM, Inc., 372 S.C. 39, 640 S.E.2d 507 (Ct. App. 2006) held that an Appellant Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decisions affected by an error of law. MRI at Belfair, LLC v. SC Dept. of Health & Environmental Control, 379 S.C. 1, 664 S.E.2d 471, (2008). Bursey v. SC Dept. of Health & Environmental Control, 360 S.C. 135, 600 S.E.2d 80, (Ct. App. 2004) Substantial evidence was said to be not a mere scintilla of evidence nor evidence that is blindly from

one side but is evidence which when considered in the record as a whole would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the agency reached. In the case now before this Court, a review of the record neither allows the Budget & Control Board nor the Administrative Court to find that reasonable minds could have reached the same conclusion that the agency reached. The fact of the matter is, there was an error of law as to the basic understanding as to probable cause and the standard to be applied in determining probable cause.

### ARGUMENT

**I. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE FOR THE BOARD AND THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT TO USE THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE STANDARD AS THE BASIS FOR A DETERMINATION OF PROBABLE CAUSE, CONTRARY TO THE STANDARD SET IN BECK V. OHIO, 379 U.S. 89 (1964) AND HARLOW V. FITZGERALD, 457 U.S. 800,102 S.Ct.. 2727, 73 L.Ed.2d 396 (1982) OBJECTIVE.**

Probable cause has been defined as facts and circumstances which would lead a reasonable person to believe that a crime has been committed and this person has committed it. Further the courts have found in cases that there must be objective reasonableness as to the determination. In this case, the Board completely disregards the testimony of the Appellant given at the hearing. As for the specific facts as to the reasons why he made a determination as to probable cause that a crime had been committed specifically, disorderly conduct. Whether to arrest, take into physical custody, issue a courtesy citation or the uniform traffic ticket is left to the discretion of the arresting officer. Testimony of the Appellant states a factual basis upon which the

initial determination of probable cause would have to be evaluated. Testimony given by Appellant Sorrell was corroborated by expert testimony given and provided in the transcript which was totally ignored by the Committee as well as the Administrative Court. The Respondents in this matter testified and readily admitted on the record that Mr. Keith and Ms. Swanson were being loud and boisterous while Mr. Sphat was attempting to assault Ms. Swanson when approached by Officer Sorrell and Mr. Malone. (R. p. 226, line 1 - 7). Appellant Sorrell's report and testimony was totally consistent with Mr. Keith's testimony that they were throwing balloons and that Mr. Keith had just handed Mr. Sphat to throw the last one. Ms. Swanson testified that none of the three individuals ran around during the incident although she can clearly be shown in the video as running back and forth several times. Mr. Keith's testimony confirmed Appellant Sorrell's version of the incident. Mr. Keith's testimony admitted throwing water balloons at Mr. Sphat's feet during the incident. (R. p. 331, line 13) Mr. Keith also confirms Sorrell's testimony that Mr. Sphat was assaulting Ms. Swanson when he testified that "I handed him the last balloon because he hadn't thrown one yet." Keith also stated that he had one in his hand when Officer Sorrell arrived. (R. p. 329, line 25) He then testified that Sphat had a balloon in his hand as Sorrell approached. (R. p. 330, line 5) The testimony alone shows clearly that there was a disorderly act that was taking place and that it was all in the presence of the Appellant Sorrell. Director Keel testified that he made a decision to dismiss this case prior to the completion of the entire investigation. (R. p. 491, line 13) And in compliance with the directive of Mr. Keel, Captain Wise testified that he was ordered to get rid of the tickets prior to the conclusion of the

investigation. (R. p. 491, line 11 - 13) Facts show that a crime had been committed and the ultimate decision as to whether to arrest or to write a courtesy summons is one that is left to the discretion of the officer.

The transcript shows clearly that the only person, other than the three defendants, present at the time of the actual incident were the Appellant Sorrell and a private security officer, Mr. Malone. Malone testified and confirmed Appellant Sorrell's testimony that the kids were loud. (R. p. 226, line 1) Investigator Lee Carter from the Department of Public Safety Office of Professional Responsibility testified that he saw the subjects on the video horsing around and defined horse around as horseplay or frivolous activity. (R. p. 339, line 15) Investigator Carter likewise testified that he agreed with the arrest as they should have been. (R. p. 342, line 8) Investigator Carter further testified that he observed the video and saw no kicking or abuse of Swanson by Officer Sorrell or anything of that nature. (R. p. 361, line 11) Carter agreed as an officer that the incident should have been checked out, and investigated, by Appellant. (R. p. 361, line 20) The video clearly shows that they were horsing around as described by Investigator Carter of LPR DPS. (R. p. 361, line 16)

The totality of the circumstances here show clearly that probable cause, in fact, did exist. The sole basis for the termination of Appellant Sorrell was for making an arrest absent probable cause.

It is not the role of the Committee nor the Courts to second guess an officer's judgment as to the totality of the facts and circumstances surrounding the case and what he observed. The decision to warrant arrest or to simply give a courtesy summons on a

uniform traffic ticket is discretionary with the officer. This is best illustrated in the testimony of Director Keel when asked the question would Appellant have been terminated if he had just issued a citation; and Keel indicated no. (R. p. 504, line 17 - 21) With the basic standard of an arrest or ticket being that of probable cause. Lastly, how is it possible for Director Keel to say a citation was acceptable if there was no probable cause?

The question in this case is simply one of law as the initial determination by the Board totally misinterpreted the decision which they cited in their opinion.

The Committee, as well as the Court, in analyzing the decision of the Budget and Control Committee weighed the testimony of the parties as to the truth or falsity. That is not the issue around probable cause. Probable cause is again the basis upon which the police officer can make an arrest. It is an observation of reasonable facts which would lead an officer to believe that a crime had been committed, not whether the person is guilty of that particular crime. The hearing before the Board should not have been a trial and was not a civil action in which the standard may well be the preponderance of evidence. Substantial evidence in this case clearly shows, based upon the whole record, that there was probable cause, whether the three would have been guilty of that before a jury is a whole separate question and not one for the Board. Substantial evidence should of been from the standard, the officer acted reasonably, he acted based upon his training and he acted upon the facts that he observed in an "objective", reasonable way. For the Board to come in and essentially disregard his testimony totally, and to accept the testimony of Director Keel, who wasn't there, and whose testimony was contrary to the

actual video presented makes a mockery of the laws of arrest and the standard of Beck, *Supra*, and Harlow, *Supra*. The Committee, likewise, recognized conflicting testimony on page 5 of their opinion. There is substantial evidence and that substantial evidence is that there was probable cause which was the sole premise upon which the Appellant in this case was terminated. During the course of the hearing, it was pointed out by counsel for the Appellant a question before the Board is not whether it was a good or bad decision to effect the arrest, but rather whether there was sufficient facts which constituted probable cause under Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S.Ct. 2727, 73 L.Ed.2d 396 (1982) and Beck v. Ohio, 379 U.S. 89 (1964). In this case where there are sufficient facts to constitute probable cause that a crime has been committed and the defendants have committed that crime, the officer has an absolute right to make a determination as to whether he will physically take into custody and arrest the subjects, warn the subjects or issue a courtesy summons.

The decision by the Committee concerning the March 28, 2010 arrest was that it was without probable cause. The decision by the Administrative Law Court affirmed the Committee's decision and found that could only overturn the Committee's factual findings if there was substantial evidence in the record to support them. The record shows that there is more than substantial evidence to support probable cause but more importantly, the Board used an incorrect standard. The correct test was never applied by the board nor the Administrative Law Court for the determination of probable cause. In Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S.Ct. 2727, 73 L.Ed.2d 396 (1982) the Courts recognized that probable cause is to be evaluated under an objective standard based

solely upon what a prudent officer would believe under the circumstances. It has never been to reference with probable cause one that required substantial evidence or any other standard. The objective standard set forth in Harlow was recently cited in Merchant vs. Bauer, 677 F.3d 656 (04/26/2012). It remains the standard for not only the Fourth Circuit but the standard required under the Fourth Amendment as well as the South Carolina Constitution.

Appellant's argument that it was an error of law for the Board to apply an incorrect standard for a determination of probable cause since probable cause was the sole basis for the determination. The decision of the Administrative Law Court referencing conflicting testimony and the authority to overturn a Board's decision is misplaced since it was not a trial on the issue of guilt or innocence, but rather the basic determination of probable cause which must be determined under the rules imposed by the courts and by the state and the Federal Constitution. The standard is essentially simple. Probable cause is an objective standard based upon facts and circumstances which would lead a reasonable officer to believe that a crime had been committed. The testimony given at the hearing on its face shows sufficient facts through Director Keels testimony and that of the Office of Professional Responsibility's main investigator, Lee Carter (R. p. 342). To allow the Committee as well as the Administrative Court to change the standard as to the determination of probable cause to a substantial evidence standard is an error of law. Director Keel, determined prior to the conclusion of the investigation by O.P.R., (R. p. 335, line 13) that he made the decision and further likewise testified

that he ordered to "get rid of the tickets" (R. p. 335, line 11). All done prior to the conclusion of the investigation (R. p. 335, line 13).

The decision as to whether an officer would give a "warning", issue a courtesy summons (uniform traffic ticket) or ultimately arrest someone upon viewing an offense is a decision left to the individual officer. This is corroborated in testimony by Rogerson (R. p. 397, line 1-5). Captain Curtis, in his testimony when asked as to whether the actions that were admitted disruptive or boisterous, would it have been possible to write a ticket for that instead of making an arrest. His response on page 455 of the transcript was "you could write a ticket for that, that would be fine." ( R. p. 462) The point is that probable cause is the underlying standard, whether it be for a ticket or whether it be for arrest. Ultimately, in his testimony on page 463 the underlying premise of probable cause must be the basis (R. p. 463, line 12). Chief Wise was asked (R. p. 479 - 480) as to the report written by Officer Sorrell. When questioned is the report on its face fine or correct? And the answer was yes and the officer testified it shows probable cause (R. p. 480, line 4). He further corroborated the testimony as to the discretion of an officer where there is probable cause whether to physically make an arrest or to give a warning, or to write a uniform traffic ticket. When asked on page 481, it creates a decision that an officer makes whether they are actually going to physically arrest someone, correct? Answer: Yes. (R. p. 479-480) In testimony on page 480, he admits that the report on it's face shows probable cause as did later Chief Keel in his testimony. When asked on cross-examination as to whether Chief Keel's understanding of the report by officer Sorrell on its face would constitute probable cause? His testimony clearly was he didn't

like the tone of the arrest (unfortunately (R. p. 495); however, the video in this case had no sound). Chief Keel was clearly influenced by the fact that one of the three subjects that were arrested was the son of former F.B.I. S.A.C. on foreign assignment. The most telling part of Director Keel's testimony, aside from the fact that there is obvious political overtones as to why the order was given to dismiss the tickets against these three subjects, when he was asked on page 504, line 17, Question: Would we even be here today if he had just written a ticket? Answer: Might not be, it's a possibility. ( R. p. 504, line 17) Clearly, there was probable cause and the probable cause was recognized by virtually every officer that testified at the hearing. The Appellant asks this Court to review the standard. The standard is probable cause not sufficiency of evidence. This is not a trial in the sense that it is a civil case where you have to meet a different standard. The standard has been set by law. The standard of probable cause was met, and the officer as reflected in his report the facts and circumstances led him to believe there was probable cause, as well as in his testimony.

The case before the Administrative Law Court pursuant to the provisions set forth on page 2 of the Opinion references the standard used to review decisions from South Carolina Code Ann. §1-23-380(5) (Supp. 2011). This Section provided, "This Court may not substitute its judgement for the judgement of the Agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The Court may affirm the decision of the Agency or remand the case for further proceedings. The Court may reverse or modify the decision (of the Agency) if substantial rights of the Appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are: (a) a violation of

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