THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-212714

E. Shawn Sorrell,

Appellant,

vs.

South Carolina Department of Public Safety,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

NOV 07 2012

SC Court of Appeals

Vance J. Bettis (SC Bar No. 689)
GIGNILLIAT, SAVITZ & BETTIS, LLP
900 Elmwood Ave., Suite 100
Columbia, SC 29201
Phone: (803) 799-9311
Fax: (803) 254-6951
Email: vbettis@gsblaw.net

Attorney for Respondent

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

[ALC Order, p. 7]. Sorrell's insistence that the Committee was legally bound to accept his testimony and his account of the circumstances surrounding the arrests over the testimony

and accounts of other witnesses is not only unsupported by statutory or decisional law but, in fact, is at odds with relevant law. *See Carson v. S.C. Dep't of Natural Resources*, 371 S.C. 114, 119, 638 S.E.2d 45, 47-48 (2002); *Glenn v. S.C. Dep't of Mental Retardation*, 291 S.C. 279, 353 S.E.2d 284 (1987); *see also Milliken & Co. v. S.C. Employment Security Comm'n*, 321 S.C. 349, 350, 68 S.E.2d 638, 639 (1996) (“[O]n questions of witness credibility we defer to the judgment of the agency”).

Because it was the Grievance Committee’s prerogative to determine, on the basis of the substantially conflicting evidence before it, whether Sorrell had probable cause to arrest all three individuals and because substantial evidence supports the Grievance Committee’s determination that he did not have probable cause, that factual determination was properly affirmed by the ALC and should be affirmed here.

Two matters merit mention before concluding this argument. First, at the hearing before the Grievance Committee, Sorrell himself testified that “[a]bsolutely, the outcome would have been different[]” “if I had got three cooperative individuals out on that street that night.” [R. 176]; that “both males were extremely cooperative” although Ms. Swanson “was not.” [R. 181]; and that he arrested Mr. Spaht even though Spaht “was not loud and boisterous.” [R. 197-98]. This testimony is consistent with the testimony of Corporal Harris and Investigator Carter that Sorrell told them that he arrested all three individuals because of Ms. Swanson’s attitude [R. 338; 367; 615-16; 628] and the testimony of the security guard, Mr. Malone, that Sorrell “basically told them that they were all going to be arrested because of the way the female was acting.” [R. 224-25; 620]. Second, although Sorrell argues

that “[t]he sole basis for the termination of Appellant Sorrell was for making an arrest absent probable cause[.]” [App. In. Br., p. 6 (emphasis added)] that is manifestly not true. Sorrell was terminated for improper conduct, which included his arrest of Swanson, Keith and Spaht for disorderly conduct without probable cause but which also included his rude, overly aggressive, threatening and bullying behavior in the course of his encounter with the *and* his history of conducting himself in a rude and aggressive manner. [R. 12; 581-82].

For the foregoing reasons, Sorrell’s first assignment of error is without merit.

2. The ALC correctly held that the Grievance Committee’s determination that Sorrell engaged in misconduct by arresting three citizens for public disorderly conduct based on one of three person’s verbal resistance to her detention, not amounting to fighting words, is supported by substantial evidence and not legally erroneous.

In his second argument, Sorrell contends that the Grievance Committee erred in concluding that the actions of Ms. Swanson, Mr. Keith and Mr. Spaht did not constitute disorderly conduct under *State v. Perkins*, 306 S.C. 353, 412 S.E.2d 385 (1991), which holds that it is unlawful to charge someone with disorderly conduct “for voicing an objection to a police officer where no ‘fighting words’ are used[.]” because individuals enjoy “[t]he freedom . . . verbally to oppose or challenge police action without thereby risking arrest[.]” *Id.*, 306 S.C. at 354-55, 412 S.E.2d at 386. Sorrell maintains that *Perkins* is irrelevant to the issues before the Grievance Committee because “the facts are simply that the subjects were *not arrested for what they said, but what they did.*” [App. Initial Br. p. 14 (emphasis added)]. Although Sorrell testified that he arrested Ms. Swanson, Mr. Keith and Mr. Spaht for their conduct, there is substantial evidence in the record--including some from Sorrell himself--that all three were arrested not for their conduct but because of Ms. Swanson’s “lip” and/or

perceived lack of cooperation with his instructions. The fact that Sorrell chooses to ignore this substantial evidence does not make it disappear from the record.

The ALC identified “ample evidence in the record to support the finding that the arrests] w[ere] not motivated by loud or boisterous behavior but instead by Sorrell’s perception that Samantha Swanson (Swanson) was disrespectful to him, and that Sorrell’s behavior toward the three individuals was improper and abusive, including:”

(1) The testimony of Swanson and Matthew Keith (Keith) that the three were not behaving boisterously when throwing water balloons before being apprehended by Sorrell;

(2) The testimony of Mark A. Keel (Keel) that a videotape of the incident that showed the three individuals picking up the balloon pieces after the water balloons were thrown to avoid littering;

(3) The testimony of Swanson and Keith that Sorrell kicked Swanson’s legs so hard that the impact was heard and pulled on her sweatshirt with such force that it bent her head backwards;

(4) Investigator C. Lee Carter, III’s (Carter) testimony that the videotape showed Swanson’s feet were already approximately shoulder-width apart before Sorrell kicked them further apart;

(5) Officer K.A. Rogerson’s (Rogerson) testimony that the demeanor of the three individuals was not consistent with [Sorrell’s] report and that it was [Sorrell] who escalated the situation;

(6) Corporal Marvin E. Harris’s (Harris) testimony that Sorrell told him that the reason all three individuals were arrested was because Swanson was ‘disobedient to him;’

(7) Keel’s testimony that he considered the arrests to be ‘over the top;’

(8) Carter's testimony that [Sorrell] acknowledged that his primary concern on March 28 was with Swanson's 'attitude problem in giving him lip;'

(9) Sorrell's statement to Harris that all three individuals were arrested because of Swanson's 'lip' and attitude;

(10) Security Guard Brenard Malone's testimony that Sorrell stated 'they were all going to be arrested because of the way the female was acting,' and that the three were arrested for lack of cooperation.

[ALC Order, pp. 6-7].

As previously noted, the credibility of witnesses is for the Grievance Committee to determine, *see Milliken & Co. v. South Carolina Employment Security Comm'n*, 321 S.C. at 350, 468 S.E.2d at 639; *Webber v. Michelin Tire Corp.*, 385 S.C. 581, 330 S.E.2d 547 (Ct. App. 1985), and the Committee obviously chose to believe the testimony and evidence that Ms. Swanson, Mr. Keith and Mr. Spaht were *not* arrested because of loud and boisterous conduct but because of Ms. Swanson's "lip" and perceived uncooperative attitude. The Committee, confronted with conflicting testimony evidence, was free to believe the testimony and evidence that it found most credible, and this Court cannot, under the guise of the limited review available under the APA, substitute its judgment for that of the Committee. *See Carson v. S.C. Dep't of Natural Resources*, 371 S.C. at 119, 638 S.E.2d at 47-48; *Glenn v. S.C. Dep't of Mental Retardation*, 291 S.C. 279, 353 S.E.2d 284 (1987).

Because substantial evidence in the record supports the Grievance Committee's finding that Sorrell did not arrest Ms. Swanson, Mr. Keith and Mr. Spaht due to disorderly or boisterous conduct but due to Ms. Swanson's perceived uncooperative attitude, that

finding must be affirmed. Accordingly, Sorrell's contention that the Grievance Committee erred in its reliance on *State v. Perkins* for the proposition that the arrests were unlawful is without merit.

3. Sorrell's due process challenges are procedurally barred because he failed to raise and preserve these challenges below and because he seeks to raise abstract, hypothetical issues that are not justiciable in this appeal.

In his final assignment of error, Sorrell purports to raise a constitutional due process challenge to S.C. Code Ann. § 8-17-350 (Cum. Supp. 2011) insofar as that statutory provision directs the State Human Resources Director "to forward the appeal and documents [submitted by the parties] . . . to the designated committee panel and to the committee attorney for a hearing" before the hearing convenes. Sorrell contends that making documents submitted by the parties available to members of the Grievance Committee scheduled to hear a grievance before the grievance hearing is convened "is a structural defect which, in its face, denies procedural due process in the basic adjudication of this case." [App. Initial Br., p. 22]. He also contends that the time lapse between the first day of hearing before the Grievance Committee (June 27, 2011) and the second day (August 8, 2011) [R. 126 and 426] denied him due process. [App. Initial Br., pp. 22-23]. Whatever the merits of these arguments may be, Sorrell cannot raise these issues because he waived and/or failed to preserve them for review. In any event, his suggestion that Committee members had improper advance access to inadmissible evidence in *this* case is refuted by the record.

As to Sorrell's contention that the 43-day (actually 41-day) break between the first and second day of his hearing deprived him of due process, he did not raise this issue to the Committee Attorney, the Grievance Committee or the ALC. Indeed, the transcript reflects

that at the end of the first day of the hearing, the Committee Chair stated that the hearing would “reconvene at a later date, potentially either August 8th, 19th, or the 23rd. The date will be confirmed and everyone--all parties will be notified. Thank you very much,” [R. 391]. No objection was registered by Sorrell either on that day or on August 8, 2011, when the hearing reconvened. [R. 391; 428-29].

Issues not raised before the Grievance Committee cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *Carson v. S.C. Dep't of Natural Resources*, 371 S.C. at 120, 638 S.E.2d at 48. Here, Sorrell not only failed to raise the time-lapse issue before the Committee, he failed to raise it--or attempt to raise it--to the ALC. Accordingly, he is foreclosed from raising this issue at this late stage.

As to his “structural defect” argument concerning Committee members’ potential exposure to inadmissible evidence prior to the convening of a hearing at which that evidence can be challenged, Sorrell is seeking nothing more than an advisory ruling because he was not subjected to such a process. Moreover, as the ALC held, to the extent Sorrell has standing to raise this issue, he waived it by not raising it to the Committee when he was offered a golden opportunity to do so.

The State Employee Grievance Procedure Act directs the State Human Resources Director to perform certain ministerial duties associated with a grieving employee’s appeal from the employing agency level to the State Employee Grievance Committee. As relevant here, the statute provides:

When an appeal is filed, the State Human Resources Director shall assemble all records, reports, and documentation of the earlier proceedings on the grievance and review the case to ascertain that there has been full compliance with established grievance policies, procedures and regulations within the agency involved and shall determine whether or not the action is grievable to the committee[.] . . . If the State Human Resources Director determines that the action is grievable, he shall forward the appeal *and documents* . . . after the mediation process has been completed, *to the designated committee panel and to the committee attorney for a hearing[.] . . . The documents transmitted by the State Human Resources Director to the designated committee panel and committee attorney must be marked into evidence as 'Committee Exhibit I' during the committee chairman's opening statement at the beginning of the hearing unless excluded by the committee attorney based on a prior objection raised by either party.*

S.C. Code Ann. § 8-17-350 (Cum. Supp. 2011) (emphasis added).

Sorrell asserts that this statutory procedure, which theoretically permits panel members to have access to document any evidence before either party has had the opportunity to object to and secure a ruling on whether any of those documents should be excluded from Committee Exhibit 1, constitutes a “structural defect which, on its face, denies procedural due process” because committee members’ impartiality may be compromised by exposure to inadmissible evidence prior to the hearing. [Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 22]. For the reasons that follow, this issue is not properly before the Court in this appeal and, in any event, has not been preserved for review.

As the Statement of the Case reflects, Sorrell’s objections to certain documents submitted by DPS to the State Human Resources Director for inclusion in Committee Exhibit 1 were heard and ruled on by the Committee Attorney outside the presence of the Grievance

Committee three months before the hearing on the merits commenced.¹ Moreover, it is clear from the transcript of the March 22, 2011 evidentiary hearing conducted by the Committee Attorney on Sorrell's objections that no Committee member had seen any documents submitted by either side prior to that date. Indeed, twice during that hearing, Sorrell's counsel acknowledged his understanding that the Committee members had *not* seen the parties' documentary submissions as of that date. [R. 98-99; 106].

Sorrell's attempts to convey the impression to the Court that Committee members *had* seen documents prior to March 22nd by referring the Committee Attorney's comments at that hearing about having to "unring the bell," is but his attempt to convey this false impression is belied by the record. As the record makes clear, the Committee Attorney's mention of "unring[ing] the bell" was in the context of an academic discussion about whether objections to the content of Committee Exhibit 1 should be made and heard *prior to* the date of the hearing on the merits instead of on the first day of the hearing on the merits. The Committee Attorney remarked that although some attorneys wait until the day of the hearing on the merits--after Committee members have already seen the contents of Committee Exhibit 1--to raise objections to its content, he (the Committee Attorney) was of the opinion that raising and resolving those objections prior to the time that the record was disseminated to the Committee members was obviously preferable to avoid having to "unring the bell." [R. 77-81; 97-103]. That Committee Exhibit 1 had not been finalized and distributed to the panel members as of the March 22, 2011 hearing on Sorrell's objections is further evident

¹ The record reflects that the hearing on Appellant's objections was conducted on March 22, 2011 [R. 76-116], while the hearing on the merits began on June 27, 2011. [R. 28; 126].

from the Committee Attorney's statement at the outset of that hearing as to the purpose of the hearing: "raising some objections to some of the documents that have been submitted in *proposed* exhibit number 1." [R. 77 (emphasis added)].

It is true that, at the outset of the hearing on the merits, the Committee Attorney disclosed on the record that the Chair had that day (*i.e.*, June 27, 2011) "inadvertently reviewed the old version of Committee Exhibit 1, including some documents that were subsequently redacted." [R. 136]. But, when Sorrell's counsel was expressly offered the opportunity to challenge the Chair's impartiality, he declined and responded that Sorrell had "no objection" to the Chair's continuing to serve. [R. 137].

Thus, whatever the merits of the due process issue Sorrell poses may be in the abstract, in *this* case, Sorrell received a ruling on his objections to certain documents proposed by DPS for inclusion in Committee Exhibit 1 *before* that exhibit was finalized and disseminated to members of the Committee. Indeed, at the end of the March 22nd hearing on Sorrell's objections, the Committee Attorney made clear that his rulings would determine "what's going to be in Committee Exhibit 1" [R. 114], and, in his ruling dated April 12, 2011, the Committee Attorney sustained Sorrell's objections to each of the documents to which he had objected. [R. 20-24; 29-32]. Hence, because Sorrell was not subjected to the "structural defect" that purportedly denies grievants due process and because he waived any issue as to the Chair's impartiality being compromised by his inadvertent exposure to inadmissible evidence, his due process claim is not properly before the Court.

In *Wallace v. City of York*, 276 S.C. 693, 281 S.E.2d 487 (1981), the Supreme Court explained:

The function of appellate courts is not to give opinions or merely abstract or theoretical matters, but only to decide actual controversies injuriously affecting the rights of some party to the litigation. Accordingly, . . . issues which have become moot or academic in nature are not a proper subject of review.

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